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Introduction
I. Statutes

A. Sherman Antitrust Act

1. § 1

Every contract, combination in the form of trust or otherwise, or conspiracy, in restraint of trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign nations, is hereby declared to be illegal.  [Violators] shall be deemed guilty of a felony, and [punished by a fine and/or imprisonment].
2. § 2

Every person who shall monopolize or attempt to monopolize, or combine or conspire . . .  to monopolize any part of the trade or commerce among the several States, or with foreign nations, shall be deemed guilty of a felony.
3. Key Differences

a. Collective v. Unilateral Conduct:  § 1 requires collective action (i.e. contract, combination or conspiracy) while § 2 is principally concerned with unilateral conduct.

b. Agreement v. Monopoly: § 1 deals with unreasonable trade restrictions while § 2 deals with monopoly or attempted monopoly.

B. § 7, Clayton Act
· Incipiency statute allow prevention of acquisition or mergers when “the effect of such acquisition may be to substantially lessen competition, or to tend to create a monopoly.”
C. FTC Act, § 5
a. “Unfair methods of competition in or affecting commerce, and unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce are hereby declared unlawful.” 15 USC § 45.

b. Only FTC can use.

c. Can be used to purse Sherman violations.
II. Universal Requirements

A. Requirement of Antitrust Injury
1. Brunswick Corporation v. Pueblo Bowl-O-Mat (Second most important antitrust case after Sylvania). F:  Brunswick starts buying up old, failing bowling allies, particularly those which owed it a lot of money.  Pueblo brings suit demanding three times “the reasonably expectable profits.”  These profits is the difference between supra-competitive profits, i.e. the profits they would have earned if failing bowling allies were allowed to fail and they could charge a lot, and the profits they would get if Brunswick stays in the market.

R: P must show injury resulting from reduction in competition, not increase in competition.
A: Ct. throws case out because P is complaining about injury from increase in competition.  “The antitrust laws were enacted for ‘the protection of competition not competitors.”  Most frequently cited line in D briefs in subsequent cases.

N:

· Result of case is that in order to prevail in a private action, P must generally have a hypothesis of anti-competitive effects.  P must demonstrate harm to the competitive process as a whole.

· Case is a good example of “equilibrating tendencies.”  Court wants to bring Ps in better balance with Ds.

III. Economics

Antitrust promotes competition out of the belief that competition presses producers to satisfy consumer wants at the lowest price while using the fewest resources.

A. Basic Assumptions

1. Cartels

a. Cartels must be able to reduce output either individually or collectively.

· In Microsoft, court found co. had unilateral monopoly power.  Internal corporate e-mails cited this.  Microsoft could reduce its own output and raise prices.

· This was not the case in Vitamins or ADM.

b. Four necessary means to control output.
i. Set a plan.  Frustrated by competitor’s differing cost structures and achieving consensus on market allocation.
ii. Monitor

iii. Punish deviants

iv. Cope with entrants

B. Benefits of Competition

1. Economic Benefits

a. Less transfer of wealth from buyers to sellers

b. Less Allocative Efficiency Loss

2. Non-Economic Benefits

a. Prevent Concentration of Wealth

b. Individual autonomy
c. “Competition is destruction in our industry” generally rejected.  

d. United States v. Brown University (3d Cir. 1993)

F:  Ivies jointly considered and awarded admitted student’s financial aid.  Purpose was to eliminate price competition for students.

H:  Overlap agreement should get Sherman exception. Because agreement restrains competitive bidding, it is anticompetitive on its face; therefore Ds must show competitive justification. But pro-Competitive Justifications outweigh: Improves quality of education by increasing ethnic and income diversity AND Maximizes aid to needy students.

C. Introductory Cases
1. Vitamins

2. Boeing

3. ADM
Horizontal Agreements (§ 1)
	Summary of Traditional Horizontal Per Se Rules

	Price Fixing
	Market Division
	Concerted Refusals to Deal

	Foundation Cases

Trenton Potteries (1927)

Socony-Vacuum Oil (1940)
	Foundation Cases

Timken (1951)

Sealy (1967)

TOPCO (1972)
	Foundation Cases

Easter States (1914)

FOGA (1941)
Klor’s (1959)

	Current Status

Operative under Maricopa (1982), but qualified by BMI
	Current Status
Operative under BRG (1990); vitality of TOPCO eroded by BMI (1979), Sylvania (1977), NCAA (1984), NWS (1986)
	Current Status

	
	
	Collusive

Operative under SCTLA
	Exclusionary

Operative as qualified by NWS.


Cases to know like back of your hand: BMI, Sylvania, TOPCO.
IV. Introduction

Justifications

Process

· Early cases discounted market power as relevant while later cases saw it as circumstantial evidence of anticompetitive effect (likelihood that practice harms competition is much greater when there is market power).

A. Economic Assumptions

B. Difficulties in Creating and Maintaining Horiz. Ag.
Four necessary means to control output.  These four things are hard to do even in the open.  Look at actions before the Sherman Act.
1. Set a plan.

a. Difficult to set market share because firms always want larger share.

b. Differing costs encourage more or less production.

2. Monitor

a. Detection problematic.  See information sharing cases.

b. Ensure other non specified factors aren’t being used to compete (i.e. quality).
3. Punish deviants.

4. Deter Entrance.
C. Per se v. Rule of Reason: A policy analysis
1. Per se offers certainty. 
a. Particularly important when criminal sanctions are possible.  
b. Increases private efficiency because firms a priori know what conduct is prohibited.

c. Increases public efficiency by minimizing enforcement and litigation resources.

2. Rule of Reason offers fairness.
V. Price Fixing
A. Early Cases

1. Early Per Se Approach
a. US v. Trans-Missouri Freight (1897).  Literal Per Se Rule:  “every” in § 1 means “every.”  Held that R&Rs price-fixing violated § 1
b. US v. Addyston Pipe (6th Cir. 1898).  Pipe producers agreed to market division and fixed prices.  Per se illegal if “sole object” is to restrain competition or enhance or maintain prices.  ROR if restraint is ancillary and necessary to further a procompetitive “main purpose.”  Restraint should be the minimum necessary to accomplish purpose.
2. Early Rule of Reason Approach.
a. Standard Oil (1911).  Suggested that § 1 only prohibited restraints violating “rule of reason.”
b. Chicago Bd. of Trade (1918).  Every agreement restrains trade and therefore § 1 can only mean unreasonable restraints.  “True test of legality is whether the restraint imposed is such as merely regulates and  . . .  promotes competition or whether [it suppresses and destroys it].  Case is cited as origin of full ROR.  Reversed lower court’s exclusion of evidence regarding the purpose of a rule restraining price competition to the Exchange’s business day.

Factors:
(1) All relevant factors including the condition of company. 

(2) Nature of restraint: natural, probable or actual effect.

(3) History.

(4) Purpose of restraint.
3. Depression-Era Affirmation of Per Se Rule. Appalachian Coals, Socony-Vacuum.

4. Modern Cases—Emergence of “sliding scale.”  CDA.
a. Abbreviated ROR.  

i. Importance of characterization before deciding applicable rule.  BMI.

ii. Once behavior is characterized as anti-competitive, D must show legitimate justification to justify fuller inquire.  NCAA.

b. Per se condemnation is exceptional and is warranted when decisionmaker is certain practice lacks redeeming merit.

B. Foundational Cases

1. US v. Trenton Potteries (1927).  Assoc’n limited sales of sanitary pottery only to “legitimate jobbers” and fixed their prices.  Stone held that price fixing is per se illegal because it always restrains competition.  Market power or reasonableness of price is irrelevant.
2. Appalachian Coals v. US (1933). Coal producers joint selling agency representing 74% of regional market and that would sell coal “at the best obtainable price.”  Noting lack of mkt. pwr. and legitimate ends of “promoting an orderly mkt.” and fact that illegality would depend on effects (which had not yet been proven since it hadn’t been implemented), Ct. allowed JSA. This is case is in direct conflict with Trenton.

3. US v. Socony-Vacuum Oil (1940).  Responding to oil price crash, major refiners began buying excess inventory and storing it.  Ct. held agreement’s purpose and effect was to control prices.  
a. Ct. rejects several defenses:
i. Ruinous Competition. 
ii. No explicit price fixing.  Controlling supply is same thing as far under § 1.
iii. Lack of market power.  N59 states it is irrelevant (overruling Appalachian), attempt to fix prices enough.

iv. Government Approval only OK if agency had actual and specific authority to grant § 1 exemptions.
b. This ruling stands until BMI.

C. Modern Cases. Tension and truncated ROR.
1. In the 1970s, SC tries to find an alternative to the per se/ROR dichotomy.
a. Continental T.V. v. Sylvania (1977).  Primarily a vertical restraints case, but it suggested that full ROR is appropriate only when conduct is “manifestly anticompetitive” in its effect.
b. National Society of Professional Engineers v. US (1978). A horizontal restraints case, but it also tries to find third way.  Held that profession engineers society’s canon of ethics prohibiting competitive bidding among its members violated § 1.  Rejects argument that price competition threatens quality (mkt. should figure out).
2. BMI v. CBS (1979) Importance of Characterization.  CBS sued BMI for requiring it purchase blanket licenses alleging that the agreement was per se illegal as price fixing. Despite facially falling under Socony Oil, because the agreement affected prices, SC opted for modified ROR. 
a. Rule: whether the challenged practice “facially appears to be one that would always or almost always tend to restrict competition and decrease output . . . or instead one designed to ‘increase economic efficiency and render markets, more, rather than less, competitive.’” If it tends to restrict, per se, if not ROR. Note however, that before even getting to this requires a truncated ROR.
b. Analysis: 

i. Arrangement reasonably necessary to further IP owner rights.
ii. Not merely a JSA like Appalachian Coals, rather this is a whole new product and restraint is necessary for new product.

iii. Achieves substantial efficiencies by lowering enforcement costs.

iv. Notes that because of DOJ decree, customers could purchase individual licenses.
c. Two possible readings of BMI

i. Broad (adhered to most by lower courts):  Price fixing is tolerable when ancillary to achieving genuine efficiencies. 
ii. Narrow: New product was being offered than any individual could have offered separately.

3. Catalano, Inc. v. Target Sales, Inc. (1980).  Return to more rigid price fixing.  Invalidated collective agreement by beer producers to shorten period for which they offered interest free financing.
4. Arizona v. Maricopa County Medical Society (1982).  Struck down agreement among physicians in the setting the maximum fees that could be charged by practitioners.  Organization represented 70% of doctors in Maricopa County.
H:
(1) Max. prices per se illegal  just like min. b/c both circumvent the market.
(2) Doesn’t matter that this is healthcare.

(3) Pro-competitive Justifications insufficient unless overwhelming.
(4) Distinguishing BMI:

i. Not different product like BMI, rather same product they would sell individually.

ii. No additional efficiencies:  Pooling resources or sharing risks, just naked price fixing.

N:  Very tough to reconcile Maricopa and BMI.
VI. Market Division by Competitors

A. Pre-BMI

1. Timken Roller Bearing v. US (1951)—Ct. suggested that market division was illegal but other factors clouded holding.
2. US v. Sealy (1967).  Striking down agreement to jointly market the “Sealy” brand, assign territories for licensed manufacturers and set prices.
3. US v. TOPCO Associates (1972).  Small markets engaged in joint venture to produce house brand goods to compete with larger market private labels.  Agreement included territories for each vendor which could only be overridden by supermajority or affected member’s consent.
H:  Market allocation is per se illegal.  Ct. specifically rejected as irrelevant lack of market power and necessity of restraint for venture to succeed.  

N: Would turn out differently today.
(1) Case criticized for not taking into account necessity of restraints to further competition, specifically exclusive territories were necessary to avoid free rider problem and encourage market investment.
(2) Market power.  Case also shows preference for intrabrand over interbrand competition.  Territories may have actually been necessary for small markets to compete, but SC ignored.
(3) Could be treated as a separate product under BMI and at least get to argue benefits.
4. Palmer v. BRG Georgia (1990). Competing bar review companies allocated territories and included profit sharing provisions. Prices rose immediately after agreement.
H: Agreement illegal b/c (1) market division per se illegal, TOPCO and (2) Designed to raise prices, Socony-Vacuum.

B. Modern Rule

1. Territorial division is per se illegal.  TOPCO, but . . . 

2. Tension between BMI and TOPCO/Palmer.  Most people think BMI is good law regarding importance of characterization but Palmer seems to reinforce the per se rule.

3. Market power may be relevant.  See Palmer (dicta), TOPCO (Burger, dissenting).
VII. Concerted Refusals to Deal

A. Modern Rule

1. Status of group boycotts ranges from per se to qualified per se to rule of reason.

2. Where boycotter possesses market power or exclusive access to critical competitive element, action is subject to soft per se treatment. Northwest Retailers, Indiana Federation of Dentists.

3. Otherwise, courts give a rule of reason approach.
B. Types: Agreements by rivals to 
1. Restrict/withhold supply of own output.  See SCTLA.

2. Deny competitor access to key input.  See Klor’s.

C. Foundational Cases

1. Eastern States Retail Lumber Dealers Ass’n v. US (1914).  SC invalidated implied agreement to boycott suppliers who also sold to public.
2. Fashion Originator’s Guild of Amer. v. FTC (“FOGA”) (1941).  Guild members agreed not so sell to retailers who sold knockoffs. Purpose was allegedly to stop design piracy. H: Boycott illegal b/c it restrained suppliers and retailers.  Abbreviated rule of reason b/c SC examined market share and seemingly legitimate purpose, but did not examine D’s proffered justifications.  It also focused on potential for this agreement to be used to police price-fixing. 
3. Klor’s Inc. v. Broadway-Hale Stores (1959). Discount retailer alleged that department store chain used buying power to coerce appliance manufacturers not to sell to retailer.  H: Agreements have “long been held to be in the forbidden category” and cannot be saved by showing (a) no effect on competition or (b) necessary for legitimate purpose (such as stimulating competition or lowering prices).

N:  Two factors affect applicability of case:

(1) Deals with horizontal versus vertical collusion. Case is unclear as to which mattered.  Subsequent cases have given manufacturers latitude in structuring agreements.

(2) Narrow Reading: Klor never tried to justify practice, so maybe it isn’t a per se case.

D. Modern Treatment

1. FTC v. Indiana Federation of Dentists (“IFD”) (1986).  SC upheld FTC order forbidding rival dentists’ collective refusal to provide X-rays to patients and insurers.  
N: 
(1) SC used ROR-type approach.  SC declined to invoke PS  b/c it had generally been limited to when firms “with market power boycott suppliers or customers in order to discourage them from doing business with a competitors.”

(2) ROR doesn’t need to be exhaustive factual inquiry. SC found that practice impaired market by denying it essential information then placed burden on D to prove “countervailing competitive virtue.”
2. FTC v. Superior Trial Lawyers Ass’n (“SCTLA”) (1990).  Group of lawyers agreed not to represent indigent clients until DC government raised compensation.

Rule:

a. An agreement by direct rivals to withhold their services until the price for such services is raised is a naked restraint on output and is condemned summarily.  See SCTLA.

b. This is a boycott case as well, thus boycotts are per se illegal when part of a price fixing conspiracy.
c. Do they signal ROR?, Rationale for per se rules. Does SC apply NCAA rule?
d. Then look at chart p.165 to continue.  Read Nutshell.

e. List defenses and non-defenses to anti-competitive conduct.

3. JTC Petroleum v. Piasa Motor Fuels (7th. Cir. 1999). Applicators sold to each other and producers sold to applicators.  When JTC, applicator refuses to join cartel, applicators refuse to sell to it and convince producers not to sell to it. Ct. held that given the evidence of cartelization at both the applicator and producer level, the suspicious producer price behavior, and the pretextual character of the reasons the producers gave for the refusal to deal, a rational jury could have concluded that plaintiff was the victim of a producers' boycott organized by the applicator defendants. N: This case appeals dismissal by SJ.

4. Northwest Wholesale Stationers (1985).  Purchasing cooperative expelled a member after it expanded its operations from retailing to wholesaling.
5. NYNEX Corp v. Discon (1998). NYNEX switched from Discon’s telephone equipment removal service to a more expensive competitor.  H: that Klor’s PS rule applied only to agreements to boycott made by direct competitors.  A customer’s unilateral refusal to deal is a vertical restraint and not subject to the per se boycott rule. Case, although unanimous, could have gone other way since there was an injury flowing from decreased competition.
VIII. Evolution of Rule of Reason

BMI suggested abbreviated ROR. Continued with NCAA.

A. “Quick Look” Analysis
1. National Society of Professional Engineers (“NSPE”) (1978). Supra, p. 6.
2. NCAA v. Univ. of Okla. (1984).  U of O sued claiming that NCAA illegally limited the number of television appearances for colleges (large schools got same attention as small schools).
H: Declined to apply per se because here horiz. restraint is necessary for availability of product. If that is the case, court may examine efficiencies.  Nonetheless, Efficiencies here warranted condemnation because agreement:

(1) Circumstantial evidence of anticompetitive effect.  100% market share demonstrated market power.

(2) Actual anticompetitive effect.  
(a) Limited production and raised prices.  Less games televised and more money charged for each.
(b) Competition, not agreement, was proper way to boost attendance.

(c) While some limits necessary for league, TV rights contradicted since they limited viewership.

N: Reinforces BMI that agreements can get past PS.
3. IFD.  When restraint is naked 

4. California Dental Association v. FTC (1999) (5-4).  FTC condemned state dental association ethical rule (1) price advertising, and (2) false and misleading advertising. 
PP: 9th Cir. found that restriction restrictions on price advertising were “naked restraint on price competition,” and that prohibition on false advertising hasn’t actually had competitive benefit.
H (Souter): SC remanded to 9th Cir. for its failure to adequately scrutinize both restrictions’ anti-competitive effects.
(1) 9th Cir. treatment of facts was too cursory to justify assumption of anticompetitive effects of restrictions. Ct. seems to endorse Breyer’s dissent saying if 9th Cir. had done, it might have affirmed.

(2)  Affirms that there are no clean lines between depth of analysis, except naked price restraints.
R: Souter seems to suggest that when P produces clear and obvious anticompetitive effects, burden shifts to D to produce pro-competitive justifications.

A: Effects aren’t as clear as NSPE or IFD.

D (Breyer): Focused on four issues:
(1) What is specific restraint at issue?

(2) What are its likely anticompetitive effects?  Thought FTC had presented enough.

(3) What are offsetting pro-competitive justifications?

(4) If enough justifications, what is the amount of market power?

N: See George Akerlof, The Market for Lemons (positing that under asymmetric information, overall market competitiveness suffers.  Because lemons can be cherries, there are less buyers, which depresses all prices and makes cherry owners less likely to sell).  Akerlof articulates a competitive benefit to the CDA restrictions.
Proving Concerted Action

IX. Summary

A. Factors affecting Coordination

	Factors Favoring

1.
Few firms

2.
Products: homogenous, simple, no complements.  

3.
Excess cap. (many)

4.
Demand: inelastic and predictable

5.
Transparency

6.
Many small deals

7.
Small buyers
	Frustrating

1. Many firms

2. Products: 

a. Heterogeneity and complexity—Harder to quantify cheating.

b. Complements—Facilitate cheating through discounts to complimentary products.

3. Excess cap. (indiv)—Cartel can’t sell more to punish cheaters. 

4. Demand: elastic and unpredictable.

a. If dem. elast. then consumers can switch.

b. Cartels like predictability.

5. Opaque transactions.  Easer to cheat.

6. Big, large deals

7. Large buyers.  Better to deal with little consumers who have less leverage.


B. Game Theory

1. John Nash.  Focal points, prisoner’s dilemma.
2. Coase and Wiliamson.  Firms will find a way around sanctions.
C. Turner/Posner Debate

1. Turner

a. Unreasonable to condemn individually rational decisions merely because they coincided with other’s actions under § 1.

b. Effective relief impossible.  Can’t enjoin firms from paying attention to competitors actions.  Dissolution or reorganization wouldn’t make sense either.

c. Thought real solution was to charge with monopolistic behavior under § 2.

2. Posner.

a. Oligopolist behavior requires additional action.  Specifically, firms would offer to reduce output by actually doing so and another rival’s subsequent parallelism was an action akin to a response.

b. This behavior was not structural but could be curbed through effective remedies.

3. Result.  Turner has won since mere parallelism is not enough to establish conspiracy.

D. Purpose of Heightened Scrutiny

1. Copperweld v. Independence Tube (1984).  Ind. Tube sued Copperweld, Regal (wholly-owned sub), and mfr. arguing that C and R conspired to induce Y to break K to IT.

H: 
(1) Parents and wholly-owned subs cannot form a § 1 conspiracy.

(2) Has been extended to include partially-owned subs, sisters and commonly controlled corps.
E. Parallelism Plus Doctrine

1. Doctrine Summary

a. American Tobacco, Theater Enterprises and Interstate Cir. established by three focal points
i. Must show “concerted action” Coordination by means other than direct assurance
ii. P must present evidence which tends to (1) exclude possibility of independent action and (2) reasonably tends to prove that D’s acted conscious in concert to further unlawful scheme.  Monsanto 
iii. Mere parallelism, even conscious, is not enough unless “plus factors” exist.

2. Summary of Plus Factors

a. Did D’s have a rational motive to engage in conspiracy?  Cf. Matsushita.

b. Would conduct contradict D’s interest if pursued unilaterally?  Toys “R” Us
c. Uniform pricing where improbable without conspiracy.  American Tobacco (uniformly higher prices despite lowering costs).

d. Rebuttal to Plus Factors: D shows that conduct consistent with pro-competitive or competition-neutral objectives.

e. SC has not ranked these factors.
F. Foundational Cases
1. Early Principles
a. Cts. allow inferences of conspiracy where circumstantial proof supports that an illegal agreement was more likely than not.

b. Cts. declined to find agreement when P only shows parallelism.
2. Interstate Circuit v. U.S. (1939).  Exhibitors requested that film distributors change their terms.  Distributors then changed policy to agree with request.  U.S. sued.
H:  Illegal agreement existed to fix prices.

R:  Types of circumstantial evidence

· Elements of plan known to all.

· Motive.  Strong motive here to increase profits.
· Radical departure from previous business practices uniformly applied.  All exhibitors changed pricing simultaneously.
· Lack of alternative explanation.  No other plausible explanation offered.
· Complexity of plan.  Goes to likelihood that actions were taken in concert.
· Necessity for conspiracy for success.  If there wasn’t conspiracy, pricing structure would beak down.
· D’s failed to call top officers to testify that there was no agreement.

· See p.250 for shopping list of factors.  Note that court doesn’t prioritize factors.

3. American Tobacco v. U.S. (1946). 3 tobacco companies with 68% of the tobacco market had changed prices essentially simultaneously, even when tobacco costs decreased. SC upheld jury conviction holding that evidence tended to support agreement to fix prices.
H: Inference of conspiracy is warranted when evidence shows “conspirators had a unity of purpose or a common design and understanding or a meeting of minds in an unlawful agreement.”
E:  
(1) Economics.  Price raising makes no sense unless done in concert.

(2) Simultaneity.  Price increases happened simultaneously.
4. Theater Enterprises v. Paramount Film Distributing (1954).  Heightening of standard.: You need more than parallel action.  Exhibitor brought private treble action when multiple distributors denied it first-run movies for showing in theater.  SC upheld jury verdict for Ds citing several factors:
a. D’s advanced good economic reasons behind each distributor’s actions.

b. No evidence that D’s knew about each other’s action.  This is a key new consideration.
c. D’s officers specifically denied wrongdoing.
G. Modern Use
1. Matsushita Electric Industrial Co. v. Zenith (1986):  US consumer electronics manufacturers sued Japanese companies for conspiring to maintain prices of US goods high in Japan and Japanese goods in the US low.  US cos. Alleged that D’s used monopoly profits from Japan to undercut in US market.  At time of suit, Japanese manufacturers still had minority share (40%).  

H:  (1) Even though PP was SJ, where all inferences should be drawn to P, Ct. held that evidence equally likely to be competitive as anticompetitive could not be basis. Cites Monsanto.

(2) Predatory pricing claims require proof that losses would be recouped.  D’s didn’t show.

2. Matsushita’s Aftermath

a. Blomkest Fertilizer.  Evidence must make conspiracy more likely than not.
b. Toys “R” Us v. FTC (7th Cir. 2000).  Toys singed multiple agreements with suppliers restricting their sales to warehouse stores.  H:  Toys orchestrated a boycott of warehouse stores based on mfrs. abrupt break with past practice, fact that action contradicted self-interest, communications b/t Toys and testimony by mfrs. that none would have done on own.

N:  Ct. states that evidence must not preclude all possibility of independent action but rather that there “must be some evidence which, if believed, would support a finding of concerted behavior.”  
c. In re Brand Name Prescription Drugs Antitrust Litigation (7th Cir. 1997).  Ct. upheld denial of SJ to D b/c P’s had articulated an economic rational theory of collusion despite lack of direct evidence where P-pharmacies alleged that D-mfrs./dbtrs conspired to raise prices where mfrs. refunded $ to distributors who sold to approved pharmacies.  Ct. held that distributors were essentially cartel’s police and distributors cooperated b/c they risked being disintermediated.

X. Information Exchange: An Introduction to facilitating practices.

A. Early Cases

1. American Column & Lumber v. U.S. (1921).  Trade association whose members produced 1/3 of nation’s lumber adopted plan requiring submission of price lists, detailed daily sales and shipment reports and monthly production and stock reports.  Assoc. compiled data and released weekly reports of individual and aggregate sales transactions.  In mtgs., members urged production restriction and price raises.  H:  Plan violated § 1 b/c it clearly evidenced common purpose despite lack of explicit agreement on price and output and low market share of members.
2. Maple Flooring Mfrs. Ass’n v. U.S.  (1925). Trade association disseminated reports on average costs, sale prices, stocks of flooring and a freight guide, but not publishing current individual transactions. Ct. held that information were legitimate subjects of enquiry and did not have anticompetitive tendency.
3. U.S. v. Container Corp (1969).  Informal program whereby competitors shared sale information on particular customers held unlawful in a highly concentrated industry with high excess capacity although entry was easy.  H: Program unlawful attempt at stabilizing prices.  Concurrence (Fortas):  Noted that transaction-level information sharing should not always be illegal (i.e. per se), but that it was in this instance b/c U.S. had proven effect on prices.
B. Doctrine Today: Gypsum
1. U.S. v. U.S. Gypsum (1978).  Before giving price concessions to individual buyers, gypsum bd. producers would verify prices with each other.  H:  Mere exchange of price information w/o intent to fix prices, not PS, but ROR.
a. Validity of program depends on several variables.

i. Collectively hold relatively modest share of total sales in relevant market

ii. Share information concerning past, rather than current or future transactions;

iii. Avoid exchanging information about prices or key cost elements that determine prices

iv. Share information that aggregates activities or all participants rather than company specific data.

2. Blomkest Fertilizer, Inc. v. Potash Corp of Saskatchewan (8th Cir. 2000).  Potash producers simultaneously and similarly raised prices after a Canadian competitor was forced to do so because of antidumping sanctions.  P’s showed (1) a memo to competitors announcing price raise and effective dates and (2) Similar price raises despite differing cost structures.
H:  Applying, Matsushita, D must offer evidence that makes conspiracy more likely than not.

N:  Contrast with Brand Name Prescription Drug Litigation (Posner, J.) stating that equally likely suffices.
C. Invitations to Collude.

1. Prosecuted under § 2 of Sherman.

a. U.S. v. American Airlines (5th Cir. 1984). F:  1982, AA and Branniff control between 70 and 90% of travel at Dallas (that’s important for § 2).  AA president offers to raise prices if Braniff will too.  Braniff refuses (therefore no § 1 violation), BUT, offer held illegal as attempt to monopolize under § 2. 
R: (1) Attempted Monopolization’s Elements under § 2.


a) Specific intent to accomplish illegal result. Wanted to keep other airlines out.
b) Dangerous probability that attempt will succeed. Requires dominant player.  Had means to keep other airlines out b/c of market share.
b. Microsoft included attempted monopolization count.  MS violated § 2 when it attempted to maintain its Windows monopoly by carving out slice for Netscape.  Jackson disagreed on count.
c. Supply Production Agreements.  Economists are increasingly suspicious of agreements whereby competitors agree to buy from each other.  See Vitamins.
Intrabrand Agreements

XI. Resale Price Maintenance.

A. Minimum Price Maintenance

1. Origins of the Rule.

a. Dr. Miles Medical Co. v. John D. Park & Sons (1911).  Dr. Miles contractually required retailers to observe price minimums.  
H:  Minimum RPM PS illegal based CL’s traditional hostility towards equitable servitudes on chattels.  It didn’t focus on economic benefits or harms, but treated them as secondary.
Holmes dissent: (1) If substitutes exist, RPM shouldn’t matter, (2) CL actually tolerant to RPMs and other retailer restrictions.
2. Net Competitive Effect is debated, but in some cases probably beneficial.
a. Free rider problem.  Encourage add’l svcs b/c retailers can’t compete on price.

b. Signal image of quality.

c. Facilitates new entrants requiring retailer labor to familiarize customers with product.

d. Facilitate interbrand competition potentially at the expense of intrabrand.

3. Status Today

a. Colgate Exception (1919).  Mfrs. may set whatever criteria they want, including min. RPM so long as:

i. Set unilaterally, not through negotiations, and

(1) Unclear and seemingly arbitrary distinction.
ii. No “purpose to create or maintain a monopoly.”
b. Sylvania reinforces Colgate Exception.
c. Monsanto termination for price cutting extremely difficult to prove.
d. Prosecutions for Min. RPM extremely rare though horizontal are common.
B. Maximum Price Maintenance

1. Albrecht v. Herald Co.  (1968). PS illegal b/c mfr. substitutes judgment for mkt. even though delivery co. had territorial monopoly and could charge supra-competitive prices.
2. Atlantic Richfield Co. v. USA Petroleum (ARCO) (1990).  Limits Albrecht by requiring proof of injury resulting from harm to competition (a la Brunswick).  Only a predatorily low Max-RPM harmed competition and was therefore illegal.  High RPMs not relevant b/c mkt. would still dictate price.

Impact: 
(1) Injury req. limits Albrecht b/c P’s must prove $ set predatorily low (i.e. harmful to competition) , and, 
(2) Implicitly questioned Albrecht’s wisdom.
3. State Oil v. Kahn (SC and 7th Cir. 1997).  Ag. b/t gas retailer and producer where retailer agreed to refund difference b/t agreed upon price and retail price. 

Posner’s lower ct. opinion criticized Albrecht and 
SC overturns.  Max-RPM should be judged by ROR b/c 
(1) Max-RPM PS rule encouraged vertical integration and elimination of freedom.
(2) Price restraints can be both harmful and beneficial to competition.

(3) Impact: Affects all RPM cases b/c you can often categorize as either min or max.

C. RPM and Antitrust Injury

1. Brunswick.  Injury must result from reduction in competition.
2. ARCO.  Affirms need to show injury results from reduction in competition.  Case shows that this requires depth of analysis similar to ROR.
3. Pace Electronics v. Canon Computer Systems (2000).  Canon terminated user for failing to purchase contractually req’d units.  Pace alleged it couldn’t sell, b/c Canon didn’t timely fill Pace’s POs.  H:  Antitrust injury doesn’t require proving injury to entire market, showing restriction on dealer independence with respect to pricing decisions” are an anticompetitive effect. This dramatically limits Brunswick and ARCO.  In this case, showing that dealer was terminated for discounting established antitrust injury.
XII. Non-Price Restraints

A. Exclusive Distributorships.

1. U.S. v. Arnold, Schwinn & Co. (1967).  Territorial restrictions are OK as manufacturer can choose who to sell to, but customer restrictions are per se illegal.
2. Continental T.V. GTE Sylvania (1977).  In an effort to boost lagging sales, Sylvania instituted franchising plan where only one retailer per territory got right to sell.  It worked (mkt. share went from 2 to 5%).
H:  
(1) ROR weighing competitive effects governs non-price restrictions.  Here, OK:
(a) Encouraged retailer investment and promotion in product by stopping free-riding.

(b) Foster interbrand competition by encouraging efficient vertical distributorships.

(c) Facilitate new product market penetration b/c they require more attention.

(d) Market power.  D had none, but it could be relevant.

(2) Territorial and customer restrictions are indistinguishable and should be ROR.
(3) PS should only be applied where there are grave competitive dangers, some vertical restrictions may warrant, but must be economically justified.
(4) Economic analysis is key (as opposed to Dr. Miles’ property law)

(5) Declined to overrule Dr. Miles and affirmed distinction b/t price and non-price restraints.

(6) Distinguished b/t horizontal and vertical.  Horizontal, i.e. Topco, still illegal.
**Case marked resurgence of Rule of Reason**
Remaining Issues:

(1) Price v. Non-price restraints distinction was affirmed but hard to maintain.

(2) Efficiency v. freedom of action.  White’s dissent and subsequent rulings point out that notions of individual liberty are more entrenched than economic efficiency and shouldn’t be tossed aside lightly. 

(3) Allocation of burden unclear.  Didn’t say whether D or P has burden on showing interbrand benefits.

3. Paddock Publications, Inc. v. Chicago Tribune Co. (7th Cir. 1996) (Easterbrook).  Smaller newspaper alleged § 1 violation when 2 larger papers each were only two with newswire contracts.  
H:  Competition-for-contract core to anti-trust laws, lack of access during K period fosters, rather than harms, competition.  Further, agreement is OK b/c doesn’t restrict inputs (either party can freely purchase or sell to others).
B. Territorial and Customer Restrictions
XIII. Post-Sylvania Cases

1. Monsanto v. Spray-Rite Service (1984).  Likely price-cutter terminated by supplier after other retailer complaints.  P sues alleging termination resulted from vertical price-fixing conspiracy and shows (1) price cutting, (2) complaints by non-price cutters, (3) termination and (4) evidence of direct agreement.
H: 
(1) Vertical price-fixing conspiracies must meet heightened evidentiary standard.
(2) 
A supplier's termination of a dealer following complaints from the latter's competitors is not itself a sufficient basis for inferring agreement.  Evidence must reasonably tend to exclude possibility that supplier and competitors acted independently.  Here, there was additional evidence of direct agreement and thus verdict upheld.
(3) Motivated by concern for (a) eroding Sylvania and Colgate by making inference of agreement too easy and (b) chilling healthy supplier-retailer communication.
 N: 
(1) Limits Dr. Miles even further by making it extremely difficult to show agreement.
(2) Powell was ready to overturn Dr. Miles but hesitated b/c of Cg. and issue not being preserved by parties.
2. Business Electronics v. Sharp Electronics (1988). Dealer terminated after others complained about its price cutting (like Monsanto but w/o ev. of direct ag.).
H: Even a showing of agreement between a supplier and a dealer to terminate another dealer is insufficient unless it is shown that the supplier and complaining dealer agreed about resale prices.  Many vertical restraints could be about price, unless price is explicit, it gets ROR instead of PS.
3. In re American Cyanamid (FTC 1997).  FTC consent decree forbidding rebates to retailers for sales above suggested prices.
Mergers
XIV. The Structural Presumption
A. Rule

1. Clayton Act § 7.  Whether the effect of the merger may be substantially to lessen competition in any line of commerce in any section of the country.

2. Evolution

a. Pre-1970s cases were highly skeptical of mergers and saw even low levels of concentration as dangerous.

b. Philadelphia National Bank announces presumption of anticompetitive effect.

c. Modern foundation is DOJ’s 1982 Merger Guidelines and General Dynamics
i. Presumption can be rebutted by considering mitigating factors such as entry, Waste Management, and efficiencies, University Health.

ii. Baker Hughes (1990) and Heinz, importance of market concentration (2001) affirm Philadelphia.

3. Core Principles

a. Supreme Court
i. P can create presumption of illegality by demonstrating a trend toward concentration, a significant increase in concentration and that post-acquisition market shares have exceeded a specific level.  See Philadelphia National Bank. Threshold can be a little as 4.5% Pabst.

ii. Presumption is virtually conclusive, though party can argue that market share isn’t necessarily determinative of ability to compete. See General Dynamics.

iii. Court should subordinate efficiency considerations in for of attaining a more decentralized commercial environment.  See Brown Shoe.
iv. However, General Dynamics and Marine Bancorporation show tendency to favor defendants again.

b. BUT, lower courts, Baker-Hughes and Cg. failure to act mean that increased permissive will still govern.
B. Emergence

1. Brown Shoe Co. v. United States (1962).  Brown sought to merge with Kinney giving it 5% market share in highly fragmented market.  After merger, 4 companies would control 23% of production and the next 20 largest would control 12%. Co.  would be 2nd largest manufacturer and 3rd largest manufacturer. U.S. sues under Clayton Act § 7.
H:  Enjoins merger after examination of market and effect:
i. Structural Concerns about increasing industry concentration important (though not dispositive).
ii. Efficiency Irrelevant.  Cg. evidenced preference for small businesses over efficiencies.
iii. Incipiency.  Cg. concerned with probability of harm not certainty.
iv. Fragmented markets lower concentration thresholds.  Highly controversial reasoning.
2. United States v. Philadelphia National Bank (1963).  Merger b/t banks would have created a post-merger market share of 30%. Two largest before merger controlled 44%, to largest after would control 59%.
H: Merger would create undue market share, and is thus presumptively illegal. D failed to prove merger would not have anticompetitive effects.
i. Show firm would control “undue percentage” of market this creates presumption of illegality. 30% is undue.
ii. Burden shifts to D to produce “evidence clearly showing that the merger is not likely to have such anticompetitive effects.”

(1) Social/Economic benefits do not save anticompetitive mergers.  In this case, bringing jobs and encouraging investment irrelevant.
(2) Merger necessary for competition with larger banks.  This is an ongoing debate, though ct. dismissed.
3. U.S. v. Von’s Grocery (1966).  Merged company would have 7.5% of LA area.  Ct. seemed to equate numerical decline in competitors with decrease in competition.  Stewart dissented saying this was not necessarily so.
4. U.S. v. Pabst Brewery (1966).  Ct. held that 23.95% in Wisc., 11.32% in tri-state and 4.49% in country sufficient to enjoin merger.  HIGH WATER MARK OF STRUCTURAL PRESUMPTION.
C. Erosion of the Presumption
1. U.S. v. General Dynamics Corporation (1974). Stewart wrote that evidence of concentration is not a conclusive determinant of ability to compete.  Uncommitted coal is the market, not coal production.
N: Rehabilitated burden shifting after Von’s and Pabst seemed to make it impossible.

2. U.S. v. Baker-Hughes (D.C. Cir. 1990).  Post-merger firm would control 76% of market.  Gives factors that can be used in rebutting the structural presumption.  H:  Strength of rebuttal evidence depends on strength of structural presumption.  Weak presumption rebutted by showing data misleading, buyers sophisticated and ease of entry.
Factors from Guidelines:

i. Changing market conditions, § 3.21

ii. Financial condition of firms in the relevant market.  § 3.22

iii. Special Factors affecting foreign firms.  § 3.23

iv. Nature of the product and the terms of sale § 3.41

v. Information about specific transactions and buyer market characteristics.  § 3.42

vi. Conduct of firms in the market. § 3.44

vii. Market performance § 3.45.

viii. Efficiencies. § 3.5

D. Resurgence

1. FTC v. H.J. Heinz Co. (D.C. Cir. 2001).  Heinz sought to merge with Beech-Nut for a 33% market share when Gerber controlled 65%.  H: Enjoins merger while Claiming to apply Baker-Hughes, but requires industry-specific factors thus strengthening structural presumption.

R:  Restatement of Baker-Hughes Rule:

i. Government must establish that firm would control undue market share.  Showing a significant percentage concentration establishes a presumption.  Market stats clearly show lessened competition for number 2 slot on shelves and heightened barriers to market entry.
ii. No court has ever approved a merger reducing a market to a duopoly.

iii. D can then show that market statistics give an inaccurate picture of merger’s effect on competition.  Strength of rebuttal dictated by strength of evidence.  D’s proffered general evidence that collusion not likely, but ct. rejected and req’d showing industry-specific reasons that collusion would be unlikely. 
iv. If D rebuts, burden shifts back to the government.

XV. Merger Analysis under DOJ/FTC Guidelines

A. Market Concentration. § 1.0
1. Market Definition
a. U.S. v. DuPont de Nemours (1956).  Dupont had 20% of flexible packaging market but 75% of cellophane market. H: Market was properly flexible packaging because other products in it could be reasonably interchanged with it.
Factors:  

(1) Cross-Elasticity.  How do sales and price respond to those of other products in market?  Cellophane responded well.  Remember the Cellophane Fallacy: Cross-elasticity is only a true measure of market power if both products are being sold at competitive prices.
(2) End Use.
(3) Quality.
b. F.T.C. v. Cardinal Health (D.D.C. 1998).  Four largest pharmaceutical (controlling 58.5% of market, but a larger percentage of supplying retail brick and mortar pharmacies) wholesale distributors try to merge.  H: Enjoined merger b/c of anticompetitive effect on wholesale drug submarket.
i. Market Definition

(1) Includes captive output as well as committed and uncommitted participants.  In this case, large chains have captive output because they could warehouse and order goods themselves.
(2) Substitutes.  For some consumers, there are substitutes. BUT, hospitals and independent pharmacies non-warehousing retail chains do not have substitutes and have become increasingly dependent on wholesale distributors.
ii. Anticompetitive Effects

(1) High Market Concentration. Citing Philadelphia National Bank, 30% was enough to enjoin, here it would be 80% of wholesale market.  Ct. also uses HHI. Here, HHI nearly double.

(2) Government presented three ways in which competition would be threatened:

· Motive.  Co. docs showed they saw excess capacity as factor in “irrational pricing.”

· Comparison.  Prices lowered when FTC enjoined similar merger.

· History of Collaboration.  D’s could already collude and the merger would only make things worse.

c. Staples.  See infra, p. 19.

d. Microsoft.  Middleware properly excluded from OS market because consumers would be unwilling to currently or in the near future abandon their OS for middleware.
2. Market Concentration

a. Hypothetical Monopolist.  Monopoly exists when buyers would be willing to pay 5% or more (SSNIP) for a good rather than substituting.  May be proved by surveys, comparisons to relevant other markets and historical data.
B. Competitive Effects of Collusive Mergers
1. Guidelines.  Seek to prevent mergers which are likely to “create or enhance market power or to facilitate its exercise.”   § 1.0.  Lower cts. have largely accepted.
2. Coordinated Competitive Effects

a. Conduct warranting enjoinment may not be illegal (e.g. conscious parallelism).  See HCA
b. Hospital Corp. of Amer. v. FTC (7th Cir. 1986).  Posner enjoined merger where post-merger hospital would have controlled 26% of mkt. where top 4 firms had 91%. 

H: “Appreciable danger of such anticompetitive effects in the future” sufficient to enjoin merger.
i. High risk of anticompetitive effects through collusion b/c of 

(1) Few firms

(2) Incentive b/c of external price pressures from insurers.
(3) Regulatory Barriers to entry and expansion high b/c of State’s “Certificate-of-need” law.

(4) Less important:  Monopsony risk, inelastic demand, history of collusion.

ii. Rejected Defenses:

(1) Third-party payers couldn’t refuse to use an overcharging hospital.

(2) Competitor wouldn’t have complained if prices weren’t going to be lowered.

c. Baker Hughes.  See supra, p. 17.  Thomas held that threat of competitive effects undermined by

i. Sophistication of buyers

ii. Ease of entry. Reject “quick and effective” entry standard.
iii. Misleading nature of statistics.
d. FTC . H.J. Heinz Co. (D.C. Cir. 2001).  See supra, p. 17.  Ct. req’d extraordinary efficiencies which parties couldn’t show (new products facilitated by merger, but not “merger specific”). 
e. Arch Coal. Merger from 5 to 4 or 4 to 3.
3. Unilateral Competitive Effects

a. New York v. Kraft General Foods, Inc. (S.D.N.Y. 1995).  Kraft acquired Nabisco’s RTE division giving it 15% of RTE market and control of Grape Nuts and Shredded Wheat.  
H:  Merger poses no threat of unilateral anticompetitive effects b/c Grape Nuts and Shredded Wheat are not direct competitors b/c 
i. Substitutes.  Each cereal has its own private label and copycat competing products.

ii. Retailer views.  Grocery store managers testified that they did not see the two as competitors.

iii. No cross elasticity in price.
iv. Consumers don’t view cereals as first and second choices to each other.

b. FTC v. Staples, Inc.  (D.D.C. 1997).  Staples sought to merge with Office Depot.  Would’ve been a merger b/t the top 2 superstores with OfficeMax as remaining one.

H: Ct. upholds preliminary injunction requiring that there be a reasonable probability that the challenged transaction will substantially impair competition. 
3 considerations relevant to that determination:

i. Geographic Mkt.:  Both sides agree.

ii. Relevant Product Mkt.

Staples-OD would have only 5.5% of total office supplies market.

Nonetheless, a submarket may exist.  Citing Brown Shoe, indicia of a submarket are:

· Sensitivity to price changes.  Prices higher in markets where there is only one of the two companies.  Suggests that real they are each other’s competitors more than they are of all stores.

· Entry.  Prices lower when there is a threat of entry by another superstore.
· SSNIP exists for superstores.

· Similar Stores.  Different in physical appearance, number and variety of SKUs
· Common Customers.  Businesses with less than 20 employees.
· Industry recognition of submarket.  Each party regarded the other as its main competitor.
iii. Probable effect on competition.  

(1) Ct. should consider HHIs in each geographic mkt.  Average HHI increase for merger is 2,715, with some mkts. as high as 9,059.
(2) Sensitivity to price changes, entry and SSNIP indicate probable anticompetitive effects.
(3) High concentration would allow unilateral increase in prices.
c. Problems with implementing the unilateral effects theory

i. Market definition may be unnecessary.  Will one reverse engineer market definition to show market power.

ii. Difficult to quantify likelihood of unilateral price increases. Really, seems like Ct. did a good job in Staples.

iii. Risk of condemning non-anticompetitive mergers through unilateral effects theory.

4. Maverick Firms
a. Definition.  Firm that gains more from deviating from coordination than from going along.

b. Identifying Mavericks

i. Revealed Preference by examining firm practices.

ii. Natural Experiments.  Do factors other than industry pricing have greater effect on firm’s pricing?

iii. A Priori Factors.  Non-pricing factors, such as excess capacity, make it likely that a maverick firm will exist.  See Cardinal Health.
c. Significance

i. Acquisition of mavericks poses greater threat to competition.

ii. Other acquisitions less likely to be anticompetitive b/c maverick exists.
C. Entry—D must show.
1. U.S. v. Waste Management (2d. Cir. 1984).  Merger of two waste cos. For 48% share in Dallas-Ft. Worth market.  D concedes merger exceeds PNB threshold for presumptive illegality and attempts to rebut using ease of entry evidence.  

H:  48.8% share does not accurately indicate market power b/c of ease of entry.
a. Entry SHOULD be considered in whether merger will substantially lessen competition.

i. While SC has never ruled entry mitigates anticompetitive effects, it has ruled that mkt. must take into account captive output.

ii. Under General Dynamics, substantial market share is not dispositive if it is misleading as to actual anticompetitive effect.

iii. Merger guidelines recognize role of entry.

b. In this case, ease of entry by individuals and larger companies would counter risk of anticompetitive effect.  Ct. affirms that entry need not be “quick and easy.” It is questionable that people operating out of garage could really compete.
N:  This court misallocates burden.  Ease of entry may mitigate anticompetitive effect, but it is up to D to prove it.
2. Baker-Hughes.  
a. Ease of entry was one factor rebutting weak structural presumption.

b. Rejects “quick and effective” entry.
c. Finds that possibility of entrants would constrain price increases b/c foreign companies could easily enter mkt. Even if they didn’t, threat would keep prices low.
3. Guidelines.  Two years after Baker-Hughes.

a. Merger does not harm competition if entry into the market is 
i. “so easy that the market participants  . . .  could not profitably maintain” supra-competitive prices.” And
ii. “Timely, likely and sufficient.”
b. Approach depends on type of entrant.

i. Committed would have to invest substantial one-time costs to compete.  Factors:

(1) “Minimum viable scale.” § 3.3. Could committed entrant be profitable by capturing 5% of market? % can be adjusted.

(2) Timeliness.  § 3.2-4.  Could significant impact be made w/in 2 years?
ii. Uncommitted entrants 

(1) Little to no switching cost.

(2) Could enter w/in 1 year.

c. Reconciling Guideline’s req. w/ Baker-Hughes.
i. Timely.  Cardinal Health.  Applied “timely, likely and sufficient”

ii. Likely.  Staples noted entry must “likely avert” anticompetitive effects.
4. Note that really high concentrations have never been held to rebut, though in theory they could.  Also, Guidelines place much more emphasis on speed than cts. do.
D. Efficiencies

1. Evolution of Doctrine.

a. During structural era, SC seemed to discount efficiencies as irrelevant.  These decisions are formally controlling but lower courts have looked for wiggle room.

b. Proctor & Gamble (1967) argued efficiencies might actually be a reason to condemn a merger.  No court since has adopted this view.

c. More recently, some courts have considered.

i. University Health (11th Cir. 1991).  Efficiencies are a favor that may be used to rebut market concentration presumption. Hospital acquisition would have given new company control of 43% of mkt. and raised HHI nearly 2,500 points.  FTC sued, D argued efficiencies mitigated it. H:  Significant efficiencies may rebut structural presumption, but here, D failed to do so.
ii. Heinz.  Closing of inefficient plant not shown to be significant enough a % of revenues and offering better recipes not “merger specific.”

d. Efficiencies may motivate agency not to challenge merger, even though cts. don’t generally like the defense.
2. Guidelines.  “Cognizable efficiencies” can prevent competitive harm if
a. “Merger specific” which means that they depend on the merger.  Cf. Heinz.
b. Verified and not arising from reductions in output or service.

c. Lower prices necessary but don’t need to be immediate.

d. In some cases, efficiencies in other markets may be considered. 

e. Efficiencies almost never justify merger to monopoly or near-monopoly.
f. Merger must not be anticompetitive in any market.

3. Tension: Total Welfare or Consumer Welfare?  What to do if company benefits (efficiency) outweigh consumer loss (higher prices)?
E. Failing Firms

1. Defense to anticompetitive merger

2. Parties must show that failing firm cannot:

a. Meet its financial obligations

b. Reorganize in bankruptcy

c. Find another buyer whose purchase would pose lesser anticompetitive risks

d. Without the merger the firm’s assets will exit the market.
Dominant Firm Behavior
XVI. Elements
A. Monopolization

1. Possession monopoly power.

a. Define Market

b. Determine Market Share. Market share is a rough proxy for market power but ease of entry, existence of acceptable substitutes also affect market power.

2. Willful maintenance or acquisition of monopoly power through something other than superior product, business acumen or historic accident.

B. Attempted Monopolization.  Requires:

1. Specific intent, AND

2. Dangerous probability of success.

C. Evolution of Standards

1. Modern Standard: Microsoft.

a. P proves 

i. D has monopoly power.

ii. D used power to anticompetitive effect.

b. D offers justifications.

c. P shows net anticompetitive effect.

XVII. Measuring Substantial Market Power
A. Market Shares as Circumstantial Proof
1. Standard Oil (1911).  
a. Market measured in terms of segment using new “cracking” technology, not all output.  Mkt. share: 90%.  Market power inferred.
b. Intent to create or maintain monopoly proscribable, merely having one OK.
2. DuPont (1956).  Injected into market analysis end-use and cross-elasticity of demand.
3. U.S. v. Alcoa.  In defining ingot mkt., ct. excluded secondary (recycled) mkt. b/c it was dependent on the primary mkt.  It also included Alcoa’s captive output (output it sold but didn’t put on the market).
4. Eastman Kodak v. Image Technical Svcs. (1992).  Kodak refused to sell replacement parts to organizations competing with it to service its own copiers.  It argued that if service prices went up, copier sales would go down.  H: Ct. defined market as that for servicing Kodak machines, and rejected K’s argument that proper market was copiers (where it had no market power); to do so it relied on evidence that (1) informational asymmetry existed b/t at least some buyers and sellers and (2) copier sales didn’t drop when service prices increased.
XVIII. Improper Conduct

A. Policy Considerations

1. Ultimate standard depends on primary concern:

a. Bork/Chicago School see exclusionary monopolistic practices as rare and see false positives as a greater problem than false negatives.  See Verizon (Scalia)
b. Hand sees the practices as more common and as posing a sufficiently grave threat to competition that false negatives are primary concern.
B. Early Cases

1. U.S. Steel (1920).  Market power and overt acts req’d, intent to monopolize alone is insufficient.  SC upheld merger with intent to obtain monopoly power b/c at time of trial, it no longer had actual monopoly power.  Contradicts Std. Oil.  Ct. decline to infer market power from 41% mkt. sh.
2. Alcoa (1945).  Lowered std. of unacceptable conduct:  Mere excess capacity to deter potential entrants is enough (evidence supported finding this was to be “honestly industrial” too).

a. Introduces “thrust upon” defense.  Where company that gets monopoly by superior performance isn’t liable. 
C. Predatory Pricing

1. Rule: P must meet high standard by proving:

a. Pricing below appropriate level, probably avg. variable cost.  See Utah Pie, Brooke Group.

b. Reasonable prospect for recoupment. Cf. Matushita, Brooke Group.

i. Note importance of structural conditions, especially likelihood of new entrants.  Matsushita.
c. Note: Only one case in 14 years has won (in the 10th Cir., KS, NM, UT, OK).
2. Utah Pie v. Continental Baking (1967):  Utah with 2/3 of local pie market sued when Continental began selling pies at much lower cost. SC found C discriminatorily priced in order to injure its rival.  Odd ruling b/c it seems to discourage entry when prices are supracometitive.
3. Schools of Thought

a. Cost-based School.  Areeda and Turner argue that selling below avg. var. cost should be presumptively illegal.

b. Recoupment School.  Does predatory firm have ability to recoup costs.  

c. No rule School.  Bork argues that there should be no rule since predatory pricing is rare, and b/c it encourages higher prices.

d. Game-Theoretic School.  Fact specific determinations are req’d, but school recognizes that incumbents can beat equally efficient entrants by temporary price drops.

4. Matsushita (1986).  Not monopolist case, but ct. seemed to apply No Rule School finding that monopolies are rare and hard to maintain.  It also noted structural features would make it unlikely that firms could retain market power long enough to recoup investment.
5. Brooke Group Ltd. v. Brown & Williamson (1993).  Failing tobacco producer switches to producing generics, successfully increasing its mkt. sh.  In response, Browne & Williamson drops prices and begins to recapture market.  Internal documents evidence intent to take away mkt. sh. and the strategy’s success.
H:  P’s must satisfy two “not easy to establish” requirements.
i. P “must prove that prices complied of are below an appropriate measure of its rival’s costs.” Ct. didn’t define “appropriate,” though parties agreed it should be average variable cost.
ii. P must show that D had reasonable prospect or dangerous probability of recoupment.  L argued that B&W lowered prices to convince L to raise its and therefore stop L from getting too much more mkt. sh.  Ct. found no evidence that B&W raised generic prices to supracompetitive level.
N: PP: Sustained JNOV of jury conviction (even though std. was only could a jury have rationally found).
6. American Airlines  AMR added capacity on routes in response to new entrants.  Ct. ruled for D’s finding that below-cost pricing hadn’t been proven and, in any case, it could find no manageable standard regarding appropriate pricing.
D. Product Design

1. Summary
a. Rule. So long as product design actually improves product, cts. will not find improper conduct.

b. Policy. Don’t want to discourage innovation.  Berkey; IBM.
2. Berkey Photo v. Eastman Kodak Co. (1979).  Berkey produced film for Kodak cameras. Kodak began rapidly changing its product design so that cameras only worked with K film.  B sued arguing that Kodak’s conduct was exclusionary.  H:  Ct. found conduct acceptable b/c it did not want to discourage innovation by rewarding free-riding and b/c it couldn’t discern “workable guidelines” for businesses to follow. 
3. Cal. Computer Prods. Co. v. IBM Corp. (1979).  Refused to find unlawful IBM’s product redesigns which raised costs for peripherals manufacturers. Ct. stressed that IBMs products were actually better.

4. AT&T.  Ct. found AT&T product design improper when it actually degraded product performance in order to exclude rivals.

5. Microsoft (1993-).
E. Leveraging/Tying
1. Rule

a. There must be two distinct products or services.

i. An issue in the Microsoft case (was the browser separate from the OS).

ii. This is really a way of asking whether two products should be tied from an efficiency perspective (e.g. buying two shoes).  See Jefferson Parish (Ct. found separate b/c patients could differentiate and separately demand surgeons v. anesthesiologists).

iii. See Microsoft (putting this analysis in the justification prong which it created.
b. The seller must have “appreciable economic power” in the tying product, such that “forcing” is likely.

i. There is a perceived safe harbor at 30-40%.

ii. Jefferson Parish (though products were tied, hospital didn’t have market power from 30% mkt sh.).
c. There must be a conditioned or sale, i.e. the tying product must be available only on the condition that the second, tied product also be purchased.

i. Offering huge discount if tied counts as conditioning.  See LePages.
d. The arrangement must affect a “substantial volume of commerce in the tied market”

i. Doesn’t need to anticompetitive, just a reduction in amount of commerce available to rivals.

e. Justifications.
i. Traditional justification was quality control. Early example was cable television (had to buy equipment and service package from cable co.; in a per curiam opinion SC upheld this as necessary for QA for new technology.).
ii. See Microsoft.

f. Future of the rule: K thinks its going to go soon b/c O’Connor and Rehnquist oppose it. There is a case which could kill it: Indepink, Inc. (independent ink manufacturer alleged tying in sales of printers and ink sales, arguing that people have patent which by definition gives you market power. Agencies believe that patents don’t necessarily give you market power if there is an alternative.  SC in 60s used “statutory monopoly”). K thinks they’ll kill the leveraging rule.
2. Jefferson Parish v. Hyde (1984). Large hospital req’d patients to use its anesthesiologists for sugery b/c it claimed that it increased quality and reduced cost.  H: Ct. upheld agreement 5 Justices “per se” but (1) found products to be separate b/c character of demand for products, (2) the hospital lacked enough power to invoke per se rule, (3) no evidence showed that the hospital forced anesthesiologists on unwilling patients.  Conc.: Wanted court to abandon PS/ROR dichotomy.
3. LePages v. 3M (2003).  Rebates conditioned on purchasing substantial percentages of products from 3M in product categories effectively required customers to solely use 3M and thereby violated § 2.  H: Monopolist’s use of monopoly power to exclude a rival where D fails to provide procompetitive justification violates § 2.
4. Microsoft.
F. Refusals to Deal
1. Rule Summary

a. Absent intent to monopolize, business have complete freedom in choosing with whom they choose to deal.  Colgate
b. Aspen-Kodak Rule

i. Terminating party is a monopolist.  Aspen (owner of 3 of 4 resorts), Kodak (copier parts).
ii. Ceases cooperation.  KEY b/c later cases find that you don’t HAVE to deal w/ competitors, but once you do, a problem arises. Aspen (w/drawal from all-area pass), Kodak (stops supplying parts to ISOs).
iii. Termination harms rival. Aspen (lack of pass led to decrease in business), Kodak (ISOs).
iv. Harms Consumers.  Aspen (consumer surveys evidenced value of pass); Kodak.
v. No efficiency justifications exist.
vi. This approach was immediately attacked and restricted by Cts. of App. By focusing on ceasing cooperation, setting new terms was permissible.
c. Verizon.  Declares Aspen-Kodak to be at or near outer bounds of jurisprudence.
i. Stated that Aspen was OK b/c it forewent short term profits for long term monopoly profits.

ii. SC noted it never explicitly endorsed the need to share access to essential facilities b/c it would deter innovation and encourage collusion.
iii. Cts. should be very wary about intervening b/c risk of false positives.
d. Preemption of Sherman by other legislation
i. Can’t preempt unless explicit.  Otter Tail.

ii. Verizon
2. Eastman Kodak v. Southern Photo Materials (1927).  Kodak’s refusal to sell to a retailer when the purchase was part of a plan to forward integrate Kodak into the wholesale business violated § 2.  H: A refusal to deal violates § 2 when done to further a monopoly (restates Colgate’s intent test).  
3. Lorrain Journal v. U.S. (1951).  Monopoly newspaper refused to accept advertisements from entities who also advertised on radio.  Ct. found purpose and intent of policy was to destroy radio station and that this was an unlawful means of maintaining its monopoly.  Understood in modern terms, the newspaper was using its market power to raise its rivals costs (since it needed to get more listeners per $ to get advertisers) and newspaper provided no efficiency justification. 
4. Otter Tail v. U.S. (1973). OT, power producer and retailer, refused to service municipal distribution networks in an attempt to shore up its own retail distribution network.  Federal Power Act required it to provide power to municipalities H:  (1) Based on Act’s intent to increase competition and precedential disfavoring of allowing statutes to trump Sherman, SC held FPA did not preempt Sherman. (2) OT violated § 2 when it used monopoly power to deter entrants by denying them access to an essential facility (its wholesale transmission lines).
N:  “Repeals of the antitrust laws by implication from a regulatory statute are strongly disfavored, and have only been found in cases of plain repugnancy between the antitrust and regulatory provisions.” PNB, but see Verizon, infra.
5. Aspen Skiing v. Aspen Highlands skiing Co. (1985).  Owner of 3 of 4 resorts refused to offer “all area” pass in conjunction with 4th.  In fact, it even refused to sell it tickets at full price (suggesting desire to forego profits for monopoly profits later).  Highlands presented fairly simplistic assessment that consumers wanted all-area pass.  H: A monopolist’s refusal to continue to participate in a joint marketing plan with its only rival could amount to monopolization when the practice excludes a rival on some basis other than efficiency (i.e. refusal to deal only OK if there are legitimate competitive reasons for the refusal).
6. Eastman Kodak v. Image Technical Services (1992) (supra).  Kodak ceases to sell replacement parts to competing ISOs.  Kodak was monopolist, it told existing ISO that they could no longer purchase from them.  Quotes Aspen on need for legitimate competitive reasons for monopolist’s refusal to deal with rivals.
7. Verizon Communications v. Trinko (2004) [declares Aspen at or near the outer bounds of § 2 liability].  T alleged that V discriminatorily denied rival long distance providers access to their local networks according to terms and specified pricing under the 1996 Telecom Act.
H: Scalia wrote actions could be just as easily motivated by competitive zeal as anticompetitive malice and that it would be inappropriate to find liability for a firm undertaking actions mandated by statute.  N: Trinko can be read as applying refusals to deal only in context where prior dealings, not the product of government mandate, existed.
G. Microsoft

1. Market Definition.  Apple OS and middleware properly excluded b/c consumers are presently and in the near future unlikely to substitute their Windows for them.  

2. Market Power. MS has monopoly power.  
a. Circumstantial.

i. MS had 95% share.

ii. Applications barrier to entry.  Chicken-and-egg problem w/ developers (want OS w/ lots of users) and users (want OSs w/ lots of programs).

b. Direct evidence of monopoly power not required.

i. Irrelevant that MS charges small % of PC and is cheaper than competitors b/c it can still be charging monopoly power.  Like Cellophane Fallacy.
3. Rule

a. P establishes prima facie case by showing conduct with an anticompetitive effect. Injury must be to competition, not merely to competitor.  Citing Brunswick.  Intent insufficient, P must show actual effect.

i. OEM: Thwarts distribution of rival browsers by means other than product quality.

ii. IE Integration and ovrerriding default browser: (1) Excludes on basis other than quality and has anticompetitive effect.  
b. D may proffer procompetitive justification.

i. OEM Restrictions:

(1) MS rt. to use its IP.  Can’t use it to violate antitrust.

(2) Allowing changes reduces Windows stability.  Ct: Not proven.
ii.  Integration.
c. P may show net anticompetitive effect.
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